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Our strategy is working.
Business in balance.
In a difficult year for so many industrial companies, AirBoss of America remained
gratifyingly profitable. Our two businesses, AirBoss-Defense and AirBoss
Rubber Compounding, provided balanced revenue streams in markets where
we have few competitors. While profits in rubber compounds were down,
defense profits increased last year and AirBoss gained further recognition as a
world leader in protective wear for military and first-response forces.
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1. Rubber Compounding: Revenue $195 million - 75%
2. Defense and Industrial Products: Revenue $64 million - 25%
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The year behind us.
The year ahead.
After years of working with the United States military, AirBoss
signed two major five-year contracts to supply protective gloves
and overboots. The highest levels of orders to date on these two
contracts was seen in 2008.
Sales in our military markets continue to grow at double-digit
rates. Financial results exceeded expectation as the Canadian
dollar declined in value against the U.S. dollar during the latter half
of the year, improving margins.

In 2009, there will be a significant increase in both the top and bottom
lines for AirBoss-Defense. By February, approximately 70 percent
of the year's budgeted orders had been received and contracts
signed, a month ahead of the record pace set in 2008.
Markets continue to expand. Based on our success with the U.S.
armed forces, and the proven performance of our CBRN boots
and gloves, first response agencies in several other NATO
countries are testing AirBoss products. We are already penetrating
markets in the U.K. and various countries in Western Europe. Asia
and South America offer untapped potential.
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The rubber compounding market was more turbulent. The year
began with drastic inflation of synthetic rubber prices due to the
high cost of oil, and shortages from many suppliers.
AirBoss was relatively insulated because of our global supply
chain strategy. Our customers were supplied without compromise
through the year, and the business remained profitable.

We expect our AirBoss Rubber Compounding business to be down
approximately 30 percent in revenues during the first half of 2009,
reflective of what our customers are going through.
However, as one of the few rubber compounding companies not
dependent on the automotive industry, we also expect our clients
will rebound faster. Mining yields essential commodities. Coal is
used to generate electricity. A major portion of our product goes
to those industries.
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Products that are the
best in their class.
AirBoss of America's CBRN (Chemical, Biological,
Radiological, Nuclear) boots and gloves are worldleading products. Made from highly specialized
CBRN-resistant compounds, then individually tested,
they protect the wearer from major toxins longer and
more assuredly. AirBoss outperforms competing
products by a wide margin, both in the ability to
withstand long periods of exposure and to be
decontaminated for continued use.

AirBoss of America Corp.

AirBoss protective gloves are ergonomically superior, providing the
highest level of protection while allowing the wearer to operate field
equipment such as weapons, vehicles and computers. You can
pick up a coin wearing our gloves.
The AirBoss CBRN overboot is in a class of its own. Tested
exhaustively by the U.S. military, it remains the only accepted and
adapted product under this program. Our Boss boot for firstresponse clients is the only boot of its kind that offers double-duty
protection against chemical and biological agents while meeting
NFPA 1971, 2000 edition fire-protection standards.
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The advantages of AirBoss protective gear are tied closely to our
core strength in rubber compounding. Since its launch in 1997,
AirBoss Rubber Compounding has grown from 20 million pounds
of annual production to more than 160 million pounds in 2008.
For hundreds of customers, we create thousands of custom rubber
compounding recipes matched specifically to industrial applications
in sectors such as transportation, mining, and agriculture. For the
mining sector alone, we provide retreading for off-road heavy
vehicles, conveyor belting, ball mill liners, and truck bed liners.
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Reliable consistency with every truckload, month after month,
year after year, is an AirBoss hallmark. Customers simply do not
have to worry about needless downtime or adjustments to their
manufacturing processes.
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Engineering that
raises the bar.

AirBoss of America Corp.
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Our success is based on
unceasing innovation. We reinvest
continually in research and
development to maintain a
competitive edge in markets where
we have few competitors, continually
improving our products while
reducing their cost.

The key to being successful in the defense market is to raise the
technical bar, then never stop raising it. In both our businesses,
advanced chemical engineering and custom compounding make
the difference. We operate two state-of-the art laboratories staffed
with highly capable engineers and chemists. In our compounding
business, 10 chemists work full-time upgrading the more than
2,000 custom recipes we provide to our industrial customers.
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AirBoss is fortunate to have
access to the excellent testing
and training facilities of the
Canadian Department of
Defense. Joint projects with
the world-class thinkers at
these labs have repeatedly

helped us advance our
products well beyond what
most commercial producers
can accomplish in their
own labs.
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Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit.
Vivamus pretium. Nunc viverra dapibus erat. Sed dictum porta
urna. Suspendisse in augue eu lectus commodo posuere.
Vestibulum ante ipsum primis in faucibus orci luctus.

Manufacturing of
consistent quality.

AirBoss of America Corp.
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AirBoss is now the second-largest
rubber compounding manufacturer in
North America with the capacity to
generate more than 250 million
pounds annually. Many of our defense
products are created with the latest
rubber injection molding technology
to eliminate joints and seams.

Producing massive volumes of complex materials with
consistent quality takes not only chemical engineering but a
rare manufacturing ability.
AirBoss operates three highly advanced manufacturing sites, in
Kitchener, Ontario; Scotland Neck, North Carolina; and Acton-Vale,
Québec. We use sophisticated large-scale mixing equipment to
assure compound quality consistency over large volumes of
rubber compound. Our boots, gloves, and masks are produced
with the latest rubber injection molding technology at our mixing
facilities in Ontario.
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AirBoss's origins are in the tire
industry, and we have
continued to follow the
advancements made by tire
manufacturers, who lead the
world in rubber technology.
AirBoss brings that same high
standard of performance to

industrial belting and process
markets, and the same high
ethic of reliability and on-time
delivery to customer service.
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Markets of
balanced diversity.

AirBoss of America Corp.
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Our market diversity is protecting
profits at AirBoss. AirBoss-Defense,
which is relatively immune to the
downturn in financial markets, is a
valuable buffer as AirBoss Rubber
Compounding customers
experience reduction in the demand
for commodities.

With extreme economic challenges unfolding across the
world, AirBoss-Defense is in the enviable position of supplying
needed products to customers unaffected by the downturn.
Current contracts with the U.S. military for AirBoss CBRN gloves
and overboots extend to 2011. If history repeats itself, the return
of American troops from overseas postings will lead to an even
more determined effort by the military to rebuild stockpiles
during peacetime. This bodes well for AirBoss, as does the
growing interest in our products from armed forces in Holland,
Germany, and France.
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First-response markets (police,
firefighters, and emergency
response) are also likely to
grow. With security concerns
across the world, there is
heightened awareness of the
need for emergency protection
against toxic substances and
other extreme conditions
where AirBoss thrives.

Our greatest market
advantage in the
compounding business is a
strategically cultivated
independence from the
automotive and roofing
industries where the effects of
the downturn are being felt
acutely. By focusing on
industrial belting and tire
products, AirBoss is likely to
feel the downturn less and
catch the upturn sooner.
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Financial strength
to stay in the game.

AirBoss of America Corp.
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We continue to grow at an enviable
rate. Since our founding in 1995,
AirBoss has been profitable every
year and maintained an average
annual growth rate of over 10 percent.
Our earnings are high. Our balance
sheet is healthy.

Almost all of our key financial metrics in 2008 showed that
shareholder value at AirBoss is on the increase. EBITDA was
exceptional at 45 percent, an increase of $5,266 over the year
before. Working capital continued to improve and contracted
business was ahead of plan for AirBoss-Defense. Importantly,
we have become a preferred supplier to the U.S. armed forces,
a status that positions AirBoss for future contracts.
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Our compounding business,
while affected by the downturn,
is likely to gain market share
as competitors suffer greater
losses of revenue due to their
reliance on the automotive and
construction industries.

Customers want the
assurance that a supplier is
not only innovative and reliable
but financially able to stay in
the game. AirBoss can.
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To Our
Shareholders
Sales for the year ended December 31, 2008 increased by 24% to $259 million
while Adjusted Net Income increased by 67% to $6.9 million.
AirBoss Engineered Products
AirBoss-Defense
Sales of defense protective wear increased by $12 million or 45% compared to the previous year to $40 million. The main reasons
for the increase were approximately $4.3 million in gas mask sales to the Canadian DND and increased volumes of CBRN
(“Chemical, Biological, Radiological, Nuclear”) protective wear. Another contributing factor to the increase was the drop in the
Canadian dollar in the fourth quarter as a large percentage of sales are denominated in US dollars. Sales are anticipated to increase
further in 2009 by between $10 and $15 million.
Manufacturing operations benefited not only from the increased volume but also from the fact that contracts and orders were
placed early in the year which allowed for constant manufacturing levels maintained over long periods of time.
In 2009, the Division will begin production of its next generation CBRN footwear which will utilize more efficient production
technologies and eliminates potential weaknesses inherent in seamed designs. Increased injection molding capacity will be
required for these products and site evaluation is in progress. The Company is also working on joint government development
projects to advance product performance and related materials science.
Industrial Products
Sales for the year ended December 31, 2008 in this division increased by 32% to $22.7 million. Sales to new customers such as
a US based defense contractor as well as increased volumes to key existing customers in recreational and light industrial vehicle
parts were responsible for this change. The Industrial Products division also benefited from the increased volumes in supplying
compounds to AirBoss-Defense division.
Higher volumes resulted in the production facilities operating at higher efficiency levels. It is hoped further productivity gains will be
made in 2009 as the mix of products is anticipated to change slightly with a greater emphasis on mixed compound production.

AirBoss Rubber Compounding
Despite a difficult year in the rubber industry this business performed very well with sales of rubber compounds increasing by $32
million or 20% compared to 2007. While the Company’s overall market share increased, most of the sales dollar increase was due to
inflationary pressures resulting from dramatic price increases in natural and synthetic rubber, chemicals and carbon blacks.
Increased sales to the defense and mining sectors were offset by declines in belting, solid tires and automotive. These were trends
that were experienced throughout the year in the North American market but became even more prevalent in December 2008
when sharp volume declines, due to the economic downturn, were first experienced. Many of these sectors will continue to show
considerable weakness for the first half of 2009.
The ability of AirBoss to establish and maintain world-wide supply sources combined with the ability to finance the additional
working capital requirements during this period contributed to achieving this increased market share. We are a great believer in
developing and maintaining direct world wide source for all materials that we use in volume.

AirBoss of America Corp.
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Raw material sourcing had been a major issue in the third quarter and this continued until late in November. When the sudden
realization of the extent of the economic weakness, supply constraints loosened. Prices, which in many cases had more than
doubled during the year, started the drop which would eventually see them hit 2007 levels. This will be beneficial to the rubber
industry in the long run, restoring margins and reducing working capital financing requirements. There is, however, considerable
short-term pain as all company’s write-down inventories purchased at the higher costs. These unusually large write-downs to net
realizable value which amounted to approximately $4.7 million pre-tax are reflected in our results for 2008.
The Division undertook a focused capital improvement program at both its locations, including major upgrades to process control
systems, which we expect to see benefits from starting in 2009.

Outlook
The company anticipates another double digit growth year in our AirBoss-Defense military protective wear business. Orders on hand
already exceed those of the prior year at a similar time and represent a reasonable percentage of anticipated annual sales with
further contracts anticipated in both Europe and North America in the next few months. Gross margins will benefit from the lower
dollar and the first 6 months has been fully hedged.
The Rubber Compounding business will experience a very slow start to the year with volume expected to be at least 35% below
prior year’s levels in the first quarter. Substantial declines will be universal throughout the industry and may be higher for those with
a high percentage of automotive business. Margins will also be compressed due to manufacturing inefficiencies at lower volumes
and until higher priced raw materials are consumed. Improvements in margins are anticipated for the second quarter as inventory
costs approach spot prices.
On a more positive note the raw material price decreases will benefit the rubber industry by restoring the margins of customers
and substantially lowering working capital financing requirements.
2008 showed considerable improvement over the previous year in many areas and this momentum will be maintained if not
increased at AirBoss-Defense. In contrast the Rubber Compound group will be operating in an extremely difficult environment
throughout 2009 and will focus on utilizing its strengths to increase market share further. This will require innovation and persistence
and the backing of the strong performance in other areas.
We would like to thank our shareholders, employees, suppliers and our customers for their efforts and support during the past year.

P.G. Schoch

R.L. Hagerman

Chairman

President and CEO
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of AirBoss of America Corp. (“AirBoss”
as the “Company”) has been prepared as of March 17, 2009 and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and
Notes prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Additional information regarding the Company, including
its Annual Information Form, can be found at SEDAR at www.sedar.com and at the Company’s website at www.airbossofamerica.com.
Forward-Looking Statements – Certain statements included herein, including those that express management's expectations or estimates of
future developments or AirBoss’ future performance constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of applicable securities laws. Words
such as “may”, “could” “expects”, “anticipates”, “forecasts”, “plans”, “intends” or similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are necessarily based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that, while considered reasonable by management
at the time the statements are made, are inherently subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies.
AirBoss cautions that such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other risks that may cause AirBoss’ actual
financial results, performance, or achievements to be materially different from its estimated future results, performance or achievements expressed or
implied by those forward-looking statements. Numerous factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking
statements, including without limitation: changes in accounting policies and methods including uncertainties associated with critical accounting
assumptions and estimates; AirBoss’ ability to maintain existing customers or develop new customers in light of increased competition; cyclical
trends in the tire and automotive, construction, mining, retail and rail transportation industries; sufficient availability of raw materials at economical
costs; weather conditions affecting raw materials, production and sales; potential product liability and warranty claims; its dependence on key
customers; equipment malfunction; changes in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar; ability to obtain financing on acceptable
terms; environmental damage caused by it and non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations; changes in tax laws, and potential litigation.
This list is not exhaustive of the factors that may affect any of AirBoss’ forward-looking statements. Investors are cautioned not to put undue
reliance on forward-looking statements. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to AirBoss or persons acting
on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by this notice. Whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, AirBoss
disclaims any intent or obligation to update publicly these forward-looking statements. Risks and uncertainties about AirBoss’ business are
more fully discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” section of the Company’s annual report on pages 21 to 23.
COMPANY PROFILE
AirBoss of America Corp. develops, manufactures, and sells high quality proprietary rubber-based products offering enhanced performance
and productivity to transportation, military and industrial markets. With a capacity to supply 250 million pounds of rubber annually to a diverse
group of rubber manufacturers, AirBoss is one of North America’s largest custom compounding companies.
Highlights
•

Sales for year ended December 31, 2008 increased by 24%

•

EBITDA increased by 45%, largely due to higher volume at AirBoss-Defense

•

Other markets affected by US dollar and softening economy

•

Margins affected significantly by strengthening Canadian dollar

•

Sold the assets of the AirBoss Railway Products

•

Recorded non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $7.9 million

Selected Financial Information
Years ended December 31 (thousands, except per share amount)

2008

2007

2006

$ 259,414

$ 209,373

$ 208,992

Financial results:
Net sales
Income (loss) from continuing operations

(1,486)

3,857

5,591

Net income (loss)

(1,086)

4,114

6,490

Net income (loss) from continuing operations, per share
- Basic
- Diluted

(0.06)
(0.06)

0.16
0.16

0.24
0.23

Net income (loss) per share
- Basic
- Diluted

(0.05)
(0.05)

0.17
0.17

0.28
0.27

0.29
0.29

0.17
0.17

0.28
0.27

11,697
7,103

13,140
(1,966)

Adjusted net income per share (non-GAAP financial measure)
- Basic
- Diluted
EBITDA (non-GAAP financial measure)
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations
Dividends declared per share
Capital expenditures
Financial position:
Total assets
Demand loan
Term loan and other debt
Shareholders’ equity
Outstanding shares
*unchanged at March 17, 2009

AirBoss of America Corp.

16,962
(10,717)
$

0.05
4,269

$ 157,092
17,788
28,060
65,693
23,805*

$

0.05
4,373

$

0
6,565

$ 139,103
22,211
17,445
66,727

$ 139,617
22,286
20,604
64,075

23,805

23,755

2008
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MD&A (cont’d)
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
This MD&A is based on reported income in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and on the
following non-GAAP financial measures, from continuing operations:
1. Adjusted net income

The sum of net income and the goodwill impairment charge

2. EBITDA

Earnings before financing income, financing expense, income taxes and depreciation and amortization
and goodwill impairment

This non-GAAP measure is directly derived from the consolidated financial statements, but do not have a standardized meaning prescribed
by GAAP and is not necessarily comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. The Company discloses EBITDA, a financial
measurement used by interested parties and investors to monitor the ability of an issuer to generate cash from operations for debt service,
financing working capital and capital expenditures and pay dividends. EBITDA is not a measure of performance under GAAP and should not
be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net income under GAAP.
A reconciliation of this measure is presented below:
($ thousands)

2008

EBITDA:
Adjusted net income
Interest expense
Amortization
EBITDA

2007

2006

$

9,253
2,696
5,013

$

3,936
3,253
4,508

$

5,591
3,149
4,400

$

16,962

$

11,697

$

13,140

Rubber Compounding
The Company is one of North America’s leading custom rubber mixers with the capacity to supply 250 million pounds annually. Its rubber
mixing facilities are located in Kitchener, Ontario; Acton-Vale, Québec; and Scotland Neck, North Carolina. Approximately three quarters of its
customers by volume are located in the United States.
Rubber compounds are utilized in many products and industries, including pneumatic and solid tire manufacturing, conveyor belting, roofing,
and automotive parts. AirBoss Rubber Compounding is one of the few rubber compounders in North America who, due to the nature of its
equipment and its stringent quality assurance procedures, are approved suppliers to major tire companies. The majority of its business is
serving a wide range of customers in the mining, energy generation, warehousing and transportation industries. The Company provides
custom compound formulation and independent testing services from accredited laboratory facilities in Kitchener, Ontario.
AirBoss is a major consumer of commodities such as natural rubber, synthetic rubber and carbon black. These materials are sourced from
world markets and are typically paid for in US dollars.
AirBoss Engineered Products (“AEP”)
Located in Acton-Vale, Québec, AEP consists of two divisions; AirBoss-Defense and Industrial Products.
The AirBoss-Defense division is a world leader in the development and sale of Chemical, Biological, Radiological and Nuclear (“CBRN”) protective wear.
These products are sold to major military and First Response customers in North America and Europe. Principal CBRN products include rubber
overshoes, gloves and gas masks which utilize AirBoss’ extensive expertise in rubber compound formulation. AirBoss-Defense also manufactures and
sells CBRN firefighter boots and Extreme Cold Weather (“ECW”) military footwear.
The Industrial Products division sells extruded and calendered rubber products serving the recreational, agricultural and industrial markets.
AirBoss Railway Products
The Company sold the assets of AirBoss Railway Products on December 15, 2008. Proceeds were $6.9 million and the Company is eligible for earn-out
payments over the next two years relating to operating profits over a base-level.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – 2008 compared to 2007
NET SALES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Net Sales revenues from continuing operations increased 23.9%. Approximately 79% of all sales are invoiced in US Dollars.
($ thousands)

Net sales
Increase (decrease) $
Increase (decrease) %

2008
2007

Rubber Compounding
Operations

AEP &
Other

Total

195,570
163,534

63,844
45,839

259,414
209,373

32,036
19.6%

18,005
39.3%

50,041
23.9%

Rubber Compounding
Revenues increased by 20% compared to 2007. These increases are attributable to price increases resulting from the increased cost of raw
materials. Volumes have remained stable in a market which is believed to have contracted due to economic slowdown which was significant
in the fourth quarter. The Company was able to avoid declining volumes for part of the year due to the ability to source certain materials which
had restricted availability.
Volume decreases in the belting and automotive sectors were offset by increases in defense, mining and other sectors. All of our primary
markets, with the exception of defense, are expected to be adversely effected by economic conditions in the first half of 2009.
Prices will also decline to match the decrease in raw material costs which began in December 2008.
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MD&A (cont’d)
AirBoss Engineered Products
Sales increased by $18 million to $63.8 million or by 39% in 2008 compared to the previous year.
AirBoss-Defense divisional sales increased by $12 million to $40 million or by 45% compared to 2007. This strong performance was primarily
due to increased sales in CBRN protective wear (including C-4 gas masks, footwear and handwear) and rubber repair items for military vehicles.
The Industrial rubber products divisional sales increased by 32% or $5.5 million for the year to $22.7 million. This was mainly due to business
for a new defense contractor and increased volumes from existing customers. Price increases attributable to raw material cost increases also
had an impact.
GROSS MARGIN
Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $30.3 million, an increase of $11.7 million compared to 2007 primarily attributable to
higher sales and the weakening of the Canadian dollar. The percentage margin increased from 8.9% to 11.7 % as a result of improvements at
AEP.
Rubber Compounding
Operations

AEP &
Other

Total

2008
2007

15,727
11,760

14,645
6,863

30,372
18,623

2008
2007

3,967
8.0
7.2

7,782
22.9
15.0

11,749
11.7
8.9

($ thousands)

Gross Margin
Increase $
% of net sales

Rubber Compounding
Commodity prices for key raw materials such as synthetic rubber and carbon black were at all-time highs at the beginning of the fourth
quarter. Despite reduced industry demand, there remained shortages for certain materials up until the end of November. With the severe
economic slowdown prices rapidly declined in December for key ingredients such as natural and synthetic rubber. Natural rubber, synthetic
rubber and carbon prices have dropped dramatically in December 2008 and for first quarter of 2009. The Company has written down
inventories on hand of raw materials by approximately $4.3 million at December 31, 2008.
Virtually all of the raw materials used to manufacture rubber compounds are purchased internationally in US dollars. The Company follows
the policy of hedging a portion of raw material inventory for fluctuations in exchange rate through a combination of debt denominated in US
dollars and revolving contracts to sell US dollars forward. This also allows us to set pricing to US based customers with only a minor
exchange exposure on held inventory. In 2008 the Canadian dollar fell in relation to the US dollar which resulted in a higher margin in
Canadian dollars offset by a loss on the hedging instruments. In the years 2004 to 2007 the exact opposite was the case. In 2008, however,
because these hedges do not meet the accounting guidelines for hedging, gains and losses are classified with other income. The effect in
2008 was to increase gross margins by $2.8 million or 1.4% and decrease other income by the same amount. The overall effect on reported
net income is nil. In 2007 the opposite occurred with exchange gains of $1.1 million or 0.7% being reclassified thereby reducing 2007 gross
margins and increasing other income by the same amount.
AirBoss Engineered Products
Gross margin at AEP increased by $7.8 million during 2008 compared with 2007. Year-to-date margins as a percentage of sales have
improved by 7.9% due to the efficiencies of higher volumes, weakening of the Canadian dollar and a favourable product mix.
OPERATING EXPENSES INCLUDING INTEREST, FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND OTHER INCOME
Operating expenses including interest, foreign exchange and other income for the year ended December 31, 2008 were $6.4 million higher
than in 2007. Overall, the costs increased as a percentage of sales and are 8.1% in 2008 compared to 7% in the previous year.
Rubber Compounding
Operations

($ thousands)

Operating expenses
Increase (decrease) $
% of net sales

Increase (decrease) $
% of net sales

Unallocated
Corporate Costs

Total

2008
2007

6,516
5,929

5,965
5,431

2,420
2,233

14,901
13,593

2008
2007

587
3.3
3.6

534
9.3
11.8

187
N/A
N/A

1,308
5.7
6.5

Rubber Compounding
Operations

AEP &
Other

Unallocated
Corporate Costs

Total

2008
2007

4,926
(106)

225
984

1,067
216

6,218
1,094

2008
2007

5,032
2.5
(0.1)

(759)
0.4
2.1

851
N/A
N/A

5,124
2.4
0.5

($ thousands)

Interest, FX &
Other Income

AEP &
Other

Rubber Compounding
Operating expenses increased by $0.3 million relating to inflationary factors. 2008 expenses were reduced by $0.3 million of income (2007 $0.6 million) as a result of a class action settlement booked relating to rubber chemicals.

AirBoss of America Corp.
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MD&A (cont’d)
There was a $5.2 million change in foreign exchange gains and losses between 2008 and 2007. The current year’s results include a $2.8
million foreign exchange loss relating to inventory (see explanations in gross margin) and a foreign exchange gain relating to the translation
of working capital of $0.3 million. The 2007 results, however, reflected foreign exchange gains of which $ 1.2 million relating to inventory and
$1.5 million translation gains. 2008 expenses reflect $0.6 million lower interest costs partially offset by $0.2 million loss on disposal of a mixer
body and forklift trucks.
AirBoss Engineered Products
AEP operating expenses rose due to the increased sales and profitbility impacting bonus accruals, selling and marketing costs as well as
product development. Overall, operating expenses declined as a percentage of sales.
Other income in 2008 included $0.4 million gain on sale of assets and $0.1 million foreign exchange gains. In 2007, the division recorded $0.2
million of miscellaneous income and $0.6 million in foreign exchange losses relating to translation of working capital. Interest charged to the
division was comparable in both years.
Goodwill Impairment
The Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge in its Rubber Compounding segment of $7.9 million in 2008.
Unallocated Corporate Costs
Corporate costs for 2008 increased for salary increases, bonus accruals, and option expenses. This was partially offset by a reduction in
consulting costs of $0.2 million.
Foreign exchange losses increased by $0.9 million in 2008.
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The Company recorded an income tax expense of $2.8 million or an effective income tax rate for the year of 213.6% (2% in 2007).
The primary factor affecting the 2008 effective tax rate is a non-tax deductable goodwill impairment charge of $7.9 million. Excluding this
adjustment, the effective tax rate was 30.2%.
The primary factors contributing to a lower effective tax rate in 2007:
•

The federal government substantively enacted a reduction in the federal tax rate which triggered a $0.7 million decrease of future income
tax liabilities.

•

$0.5 million non-taxable translation gains relating to its US entities.

•

Excluding these adjustments, the 2007 effective tax rate would have been 35%.

Net income from discontinued operations
The current years results reflect $0.4 million net income from the discontinued rail operations which includes $2.2 million gain on disposal of
the business assets.
NET INCOME AND EARNINGS PER SHARE
Net loss from continuing operations in 2008 was $1.5 million compared to net income of $3.9 million in 2007 primarily from macro-economic
conditions. The basic and fully diluted net income (loss) from continuing operations per share were $(0.06) (2007-$0.16) and $(0.05) (2007-$0.16)
in fiscal 2008 based on basic and fully diluted shares outstanding 23,805 (2007-23,788) and 23,805 (2007-23,997) respectively.
QUARTERLY INFORMATION
($ thousands except per share amounts)
Net Income (Loss)
Quarter Ended

Net Sales

Continuing

Net Income (Loss)
Continuing Operations per share

Total

Basic

Diluted

Net Income (Loss)
per share
Basic

Diluted

2008

December 31
September 30
June 30
March 31

74,528
65,179
64,622
55,085

(7,009)
2,081
2,506
936

(6,816)
2,027
2,731
972

(0.29)
0.09
0.10
0.04

(0.29)
0.09
0.10
0.04

(0.29)
0.09
0.11
0.04

(0.29)
0.09
0.11
0.04

48,759
50,943
54,509
55,162

1,129
917
764
1,047

945
1,151
868
1,150

0.05
0.04
0.03
0.04

0.05
0.04
0.03
0.04

0.04
0.05
0.04
0.05

0.04
0.05
0.04
0.05

2007

December 31
September 30
June 30
March 31

Fourth Quarter 2008
Sales in the fourth quarter of 2008 increased by $25.8 million compared to 2007 as follows:
•

$21.9 million increase for rubber compounding attributable to material cost increased being recovered through price increases.

•

$3.9 million increase for AEP from higher military CBRN glove and overboot sales.
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Gross margin increased $4.6 million
•

Rubber compounding gross margin increased by $2.5 million as a result of recovering higher material costs from previous periods.

•

AEP was affected by higher sales of Defense products contributing $2.1 million additional margins.

Operating expenses increased by $0.5 million
•

Compounding $0.3 million from bad debt provisions, higher benefits costs, and bonus, offset by $0.3 million receieved from a class action claim.

•

AEP $0.2 million relating to higher sales.

Foreign exchange, interest and other income increased by $4.1 million
•

Compounding $2.4 million primarily from foreign exchange losses on inventory and $0.2 million loss on disposal of equipment.

•

Unallocated corporate $1.3 million from foreign exchange losses on translation of working capital debt, as well as a bonus accrual.

Items impacting comparability of quarters
•

The fourth quarter of 2008 reflected a goodwill impairment charge of $7.9 million.

•

The fourth quarter of 2007 included $0.7 million reduction of corporate taxes.

•

The first quarter of 2007 reflected lower income and a temporary reduction in compounding volumes partially offset by $0.6 million award of
damages from a successful class action lawsuit.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES - 2008 compared to 2007
Cash flows from continuing operations
AirBoss generated $10.0 million in operating cash flows before changes in working capital compared to $6.1 million in 2007 from higher net income.
Non-cash working capital
The investment in non-cash working capital relating to continuing operations increased by $20.8 million in 2008 as follows:
($ thousands)

Provided by (used in):
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable

2008

2007

(3,715)
(29,653)
416
7,542
4,655

(3,694)
8,707
(474)
890
(4,376)

(20,755)

1,053

Accounts receivable increased by $3.7 million due to:
•

Rubber Compounding receivables increased $5.3 million primarily from higher raw material costs partially offset by a 3 day improvement
in days sales outstanding.

•

AEP receivables decreased $2.0 million from a significant improvement in days sales outstanding.

Inventories increased by $29.7 million due to:
•

The rubber compounding segment experienced a $26.2 million increase in inventory as a result of 67% more pounds of raw material
on hand and significant raw material cost.

•

AEP’s inventory increased by $3.5 million, reflecting higher raw material costs as well as a ramp up to meet defense product requirements.

Accounts payable increased by $7.5 million primarily relating to inventory purchases:
•

Rubber Compounding payables increased by $6.6 million.

•

AEP payables increased by $0.6 million.

Taxes payable increased by $4.8 million from lower tax instalment requirements during 2008. The company has paid $2.7 million toward 2008
taxes subsequent to year end and recovered $0.3 million relating to a previous year.
Capital expenditures
Capital expenditures were $4.3 million compared to $4.4 million in 2007 representing sustaining capital requirements.
Other assets
The net change in other assets comparable in both years primarily attributable to increases in restricted funds.
Financing
On October 1, 2008, the Company renewed its operating line facility concurrently with a new senior secured facility.
The demand loan bears interest at a range from the bank’s prime rate plus 0.35% to prime plus 0.85% per annum, with respect to loans
denominated in Canadian currency and from the US prime rate plus 0.55% to the US prime rate plus 1% with respect to loans denominated
in US currency.
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On October 1, 2008, the Company obtained an additional senior secured loan facility for $10 million Canadian, at a fixed rate of 6.39%,
financed over a 7 year term with a 15 year amortization and interest only (no principal payments required) until November 15, 2011. The
proceeds were used to reduce its US operating line so there was no net increase in its overall borrowing capacity. As well, the Company
renewed its operating facility to provide $35 million of current borrowings at slightly higher rates reflecting current cost of borrowings.
The term loan is secured by a general security agreement entered into by the Company and by its subsidiaries supported by collateral mortgages.
The required principal payments were made pursuant to the loan agreement.
During the fourth quarter of 2008, there was unprecedented volatility in business activity, exchange rates and bank liquidity that could have
impacted the availability of credit, margins, and bad debt risk levels. Management has addressed these conditions as follows:
1. Determined that the Company’s current and long-term lenders were not directly involved in sub-prime lending, and increased
the Company’s borrowing capacity. The current facility has, however, been impacted by the global liquidity environment as short-term
libor and banker acceptances have replaced bank prime borrowings.
2. Monitored its demand loan position. As the US dollar strengthened, it decreases borrowing capacity established in Canadian dollars. A
30% strengthening in the US dollar effectively increases $15 million of US borrowings by $4.5 million. When combined with an increase in
inventory financed from higher raw material costs, exchange rate changes and the need to prepay for certain materials subject to
worldwide shortages, demand loan requirements increase accordingly. During the third quarter, the Company entered into negotiations
to replace $10 million of its demand loan facility with term debt and reduce interest rate volatility – this transaction was completed
October 1, 2008. This had the effect of increasing our operating borrowing capacity to compensate for changing conditions.
3. Reviewed credit limits and terms granted to all customers as well as current trends. AirBoss sells mainly to the industry leaders in
the sectors we service. While this does not make us immune to credit risk, we hope that it will serve us well in the immediate future. Our
review did not result in any significant revisions in provisions for doubtful accounts receivable.
4. Continued efforts to balance net monetary assets weekly as a natural hedge to minimize exchange gains and losses.
The Company expects to fund its 2009 operating cash requirements, including required working capital investments, capital expenditures,
and scheduled debt repayments from cash on hand, cash flow from operations and committed borrowing capacity.
Commitments and contractual obligations
The Company’s contractual obligations as at December 31, 2008 are summarized below.
Payments Due In
($ thousands)

Total

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Thereafter

Term loan and other debt
Operating leases
Purchase obligations

28,222
765
3,418

1,513
396
3,418

1,412
206
-

15,408
108
-

667
55
-

667
-

8,555
-

Total

32,405

5,327

1,618

15,516

722

667

8,555

In the normal course of business, the Company has inventory purchase commitments for its AEP business segments of $3.4 million.
Purchase obligations include enforceable and legally binding commitments to purchase raw materials.
Forward exchange contracts
At December 31, 2008, the Company has contracts to sell US $6 million between January and June, 2009 for CAD $7.3 million.
Between January 9, 2009 and February 12, 2009, the Company entered into forward contracts to sell US $16 million for CAD $19.5 million
between March and September 2009.
Government assistance
The Company has entered into an agreement with Investment Quebec whereby Investment Quebec will contribute 10% or up to $0.5 million
for eligible capital expenditures over a 2 year period. The agreement lists certain conditions, which if breached, would require the advanced
funds to be repaid, with interest at 7.5%. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company has applied to recover $26,000 ($74,000 in 2007)
against capital expenditures in 2008 and the capital assets were adjusted accordingly.
Dividends
A $0.025 per share dividend was declared in the previous Q2 and Q4 and was paid July 24, 2008 and January 23, 2009.
Outstanding shares
As at March 17, 2009, the Company had 23,805,423 common shares outstanding.
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The Company rents corporate office space from a company controlled by the Chairman of the Company. This lease provides for an annual rental
of $90,000 payable monthly and expires in August 2012. The lease provides for the purchase of the building should certain events occur which are
beyond the control of the Chairman. The annual rental of $90,000 approximated the fair market rental at the inception of the lease in 2002.
During the year, the Company paid annual dues relating to a facility in South Carolina of approximately $19,250 ($21,500 in 2007) to a company
in which the Chairman is an officer.
The Company provided a $0.1 million share purchase loan to an employee due June 15, 2009 bearing interest at 5% annually with full
recourse and is included in the financial statements under the caption “other assets”.
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NEW ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Commencing January 1, 2008, the Company adopted new accounting standards issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(the “CICA”) as follows:
Inventories
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the recommendations of CICA Handbook Section 3031, Inventories. Under the new section,
inventories are required to be measured at the “lower of cost and net realizable value”, which is different from the previous guidance of the
“lower of cost and market”. The new section requires the reversal of any write-downs previously recognized, if applicable. Certain minimum
disclosures are also required, including the accounting policies used, carrying amounts, amounts recognized as an expense, write-downs,
and the amount of any reversal of any write-downs recognized as a reduction in expenses.
The new section also clarifies the definition of cost to include all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred to bring
inventories to their present location and condition. Costs of conversion include a systematic allocation of fixed and variable production
overheads that are incurred in converting materials into finished goods. The allocation of fixed production overheads is based on normal
production capacity of the production facilities. There was no material impact on the results of the Company upon adoption.
Capital Disclosures and Financial Instruments - Disclosure and Presentation
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”)
Handbook Section 1535, Capital Disclosures. This section establishes standards for disclosing information about an entity’s capital and how it
is managed. The entity’s disclosure should include information about its objectives, policies and processes for managing capital and disclose
whether or not it has complied and the consequences of non-compliance with any capital requirements to which it is subject. This new section
relates to disclosure and did not have an impact on the Company’s financial results.
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the recommendations of CICA Handbook Sections 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures,
and 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation. Section 3862 modifies the disclosure requirements of Section 3861, Financial Instruments –
Disclosure and Presentation, including required disclosure of the assessment of the significance of financial instruments for an entity’s financial
position and performance and of the extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the Company is exposed and how the Company
manages those risks, whereas Section 3863 carries forward the presentation related requirements of Section 3861. These new sections relate to
disclosure and presentation only and did not have an impact on the Company’s financial results.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
In February 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Section 3064 states that upon their initial
identification, intangible assets are to be recognized as assets if they meet the definition of an intangible asset and if they satisfy the
recognition criteria contained in the Handbook section. This section also provides further information on the recognition of internally
generated intangible assets (including research and development costs).
Section 3064 carries forward the requirements of the old Section 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets with regards to the subsequent
measurement of intangible assets, goodwill, and disclosure. The new section will become effective on January 1, 2009 for the Company. The
Company is still in the process of evaluating the effect of the adoption of this new section on the consolidated financial statements; however
it does not expect it to have a material impact.
International Financial Reporting Standards
On February 13, 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed that International Financial Reporting Standards will replace
Canada's current generally accepted accounting principles for publicly accountable profit-oriented enterprises for interim and annual financial
statements effective January 1, 2011. The Company is evaluating the effects of adopting this standard.
RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
On January 20, 2009, the CICA published EIC-173, entitled Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which
provides further information on the determination of the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities under Section 3855, entitled
Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement. This EIC states that an entity’s own credit and the credit risk of the counter-party
should be taken into account in determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivative instruments. This
recommendation should be applied retrospectively without restatement of prior periods to all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value in interim and annual financial statements for periods ending on or after the date of issuance of the Abstract, that is January 20, 2009.
The new section will become effective on January 1, 2009 for the Company. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of the adoption of
this new section on the consolidated financial statements; however it does not expect it to have a material impact.
CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
During the most recent period, there have been no changes in the Company’s policies and procedures and other processes that comprise
its internal control over financial reporting, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Company’s preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The Company’s estimates are based upon historical experience and on various other assumptions
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The results of the Company’s ongoing evaluation of these estimates form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts for revenues and expenses. Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are affected by management’s
application of accounting policies. The Company’s critical accounting policies are those that affect our Consolidated Financial Statements
materially and involve a significant level of judgment by the Company. A summary of the significant accounting policies, including critical
accounting policies, is set forth in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company’s critical accounting policies include
valuation of inventory, accounting for the impairment of long-lived assets, valuation of goodwill, and accounting for income taxes.
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Valuation of Inventory
The majority of the Company’s products are manufactured against orders, and inventory on hand is primarily raw materials or finished goods
awaiting shipment or customer release. A provision for obsolete inventory is established based on materials on hand that can no longer be
used for customer orders based on a review of historical and forecasted sales as well as a technical reviews to see if such materials can be
reworked. Management reviews the carrying cost of its inventory to ensure it is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value by
examining current replacement cost, and the quoted pricing to customers over the estimated time frame to consume the inventory on hand
and irrevocable commitments. The Company’s provision for obsolete inventory and the write-down of inventory to net realizable value may
require an adjustment should any of the above factors change.
Impairment of Long-lived Assets
The Company reviews and evaluates our long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in economic and other circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be fully recoverable. The net recoverable value of an asset is calculated by estimating
undiscounted future net cash flows from the asset together with the asset’s residual value. Future net cash flows are developed using
assumptions that reflect the planned course of action for an asset given our best estimate of the most probable set of economic conditions.
Inherent in these assumptions are significant risks and uncertainties. In the view of management, based on assumptions which they believe
to be reasonable, no impairment has occurred.
Valuation of Goodwill
The Company reviews and evaluates our goodwill for impairment when an indicator of impairment exists in the underlying reporting units, but at least
on an annual basis. In determining whether impairment has occurred in one of the Company’s reporting units, management compares the reporting
unit’s carrying value to its fair value. Management determines the fair value of the Company’s reporting units on a combination of an EBIT multiple
approach and market approach. Determination of fair value is based on a number of assumptions arising from the most current financial
performance of each reporting unit, the upcoming annual budget for each reporting unit and the historical variability of earnings. Other factors, such
as any foreign exchange volatility and volatility in world markets for rubber and carbon black can also materially alter our expectations. Accordingly,
management judgment is required to determine whether these factors at any one point in time, and in light of business initiatives, suggest a major
change, positive or negative, to the prospects of the business and, therefore, to the valuation of goodwill.
Accounting for Income Taxes
The provision for recovery of income taxes is calculated based on the expected tax treatment of transactions recorded in the Consolidated
Financial Statements. The objectives of accounting for income taxes are to recognize the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current
year and future tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Consolidated Financial
Statements or tax returns. In determining both the current and future components of income taxes, the Company interprets tax legislation in a
variety of jurisdictions as well as makes assumptions about the expected timing of the reversal of future tax assets and liabilities. If its
interpretations differ from those of tax authorities or if the timing of reversals is not as anticipated, the provision or relief for income taxes could
increase or decrease in future periods. Additional information regarding our accounting for income taxes is contained in Note 12 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
Other Debt
Management evaluates its best estimate of the amount of environmental costs recoverable under the terms of an agreement at each reporting date.
RISK FACTORS
Competition
The Company competes directly against major North American companies in the custom rubber compounding, and industrial rubber product
market segments. Some of these companies have strong established competitive positions in these markets. In the case of rubber
compounding, the industry leader may have greater resources, both financial and technical, than the Company and has long-standing
relationships with some of the Company’s prospective customers using well-established marketing and distribution networks. Furthermore,
since there is a commodity-like element to certain segments of the Company’s rubber mixing business, the customers of this business are price
sensitive and may be able to purchase their requirements elsewhere in a relatively short period of time. The Company’s AirBoss-Defense division
competes with international companies who may also have greater financial resources or who may be sheltered by domestic tariffs.
Impact of Economic Cycle
The demand for the Company’s products can vary in accordance with general economic cycles and the economic conditions of the industry
sectors that are served by the Company. In addition, such industry sectors are cyclical in nature. The Company is particularly sensitive to
trends in the tire, energy generation, construction, mining, and transportation industries because these industries are significant markets for
the Company’s business and is highly cyclical. In a severe economic slowdown prices for coal, copper and other mined materials may fall
affecting demand for conveyor belting, off-road retread tires and other rubber products manufactured by our customers out of rubber
compounds manufactured by AirBoss.
Raw Materials and Inventory
The Company depends on certain outside sources for raw materials used in the production of its products, the price and availability of which
are subject to market conditions. As a result, any unforeseen shortage of such raw materials could delay delivery, increase costs and
decrease profitability. This ocurred in 2008 as the world-wide production of key materials such as synthetic rubber and carbon black did not
keep up with supply. The Company was not subject to shortages at that time as it maintains supply sources in different areas of the world.
This cannot be relied upon to avoid shortages in every potential situation.
The Company does not have long-term supply contracts with its suppliers and purchases most raw materials on a purchase order basis. The
price of many raw materials, such as carbon black and synthetic rubber, is directly or indirectly affected by factors such as exchange rates
and the price of oil. Although the Company attempts to pass price changes in raw materials on to its customers, it may not always be able to
adjust its prices, especially in the short-term, to recover the costs of increased raw material prices. Conversely if raw material prices decrease
significantly and rapidly the company may be at risk to recover the cost of any inventory purchased at higher prices.
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The following table approximates the financial impact (assuming changes are not passed along to its customers) on the Company of a 10%
increase in the cost of its most critical raw materials based upon purchases made in 2008:
$ millions
Increase (decrease)

Earnings before tax

Natural & synthetic rubber
Carbon black

(8.8)
(2.7)

Weather
The Company manufactures rubber compounds used extensively in snowmobile tread manufacture. The annual sales of these compounds
depend upon snowmobile sales, which in turn are affected by weather conditions. Accordingly, warm weather could have a negative impact
on the sale of these companies.
Product Liability and Warranty Claims
As a manufacturer of rubber-based products, the Company faces a risk of product liability and warranty claims. Although the Company
carries commercial general liability insurance in an amount considered reasonable by industry standards, any claim which is successful and
is not covered by insurance or which exceeds the policy limit could have an adverse affect on the Company. No product liability claims have
been made against the Company. Warranty claims have not been material and are within industry standard expectations.
Dependence on Key Customers and Contracts
From time to time, a significant portion of the Company’s sales for a given period may be represented by a small number of customers. One
customer represents 26.6% (2007 - 28.7%) of total sales. Five customers represented 58.1% and 53.0% of sales in 2008 and 2007 respectively.
The loss of any such customers or the delay or cancellation of any orders under certain high-volume contracts could have a significant
impact on the Company.
Capacity and Equipment
The rubber compounding division has annual capacity to produce approximately 200 million pounds at the current product mix. The capacity,
commencing in March 2006, was increased by 50 million pounds as the result of an expansion into a new facility located in Scotland Neck,
North Carolina.
The Company remains committed to continuous maintenance and upgrading of its equipment. Critical equipment remains not only in a high
state of repair, but is also technologically up to date so that the Company is able to ensure the reliability of supply at competitive prices and at
a high quality standard.
The Company has also made investments in capacity and efficiency in its Acton operations. In recent years, the Company purchased moulds and
injection equipment to enhance its presence in military protective products such as CBRN protective gloves, military footwear and gas masks.
Should additional equipment be required to fulfill any substantial increases in sales, it can be readily sourced in the market.
Currency Exposure
The Company has revenues and expenses denominated in both Canadian and US dollars. In addition, the cost to the Company of certain key
raw materials and other expense items and the competitiveness of prices charged by the Company for its products will be indirectly affected
by currency fluctuations. Changes in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s results of operations. This was particularly evident in 2007 as well as in 2003 and 2004.
The Company reviews its currency exposure positions from time to time and reacts accordingly by increasing or decreasing the proportion of
operating or term loan denominated in US funds as a natural balance sheet hedge or establish forward contracts to sell US funds to manage
its foreign exchange risk related to cash-flow. However, there is no assurance that such strategies will be successful or cost effective, and the
profitability of the Company’s business could be adversely affected by currency fluctuations. The following table approximates the following
impact on the Company of a $0.10 decrease in the value of one US dollar in Canadian currency ($ millions):
Increase (decrease)

Sales (1)
Purchases (2)

Earnings before tax

(20.4)
18.1

(1) Based upon US dollar-denominated sales in 2008
(2) Based upon combined 2008 purchases and expenses

Environmental
The Company handles various chemicals and oils in its manufacturing process, the nature of which may expose it to risks of causing or
being deemed to have caused environmental or other damages. While its use of potentially hazardous materials is limited the Company
ensures that its operations are conducted in a manner that minimizes such risks and maintains insurance coverage considered reasonable
by management. To date, no regulatory authority has required the Company to pay any material fines or remediation expenses in connection
with any alleged violation of environmental regulation. However, there can be no assurance that future environmental damage will not occur
or that environmental damage due to prior or present practices will not result in future liabilities. The Company is subject to environmental
regulation by federal, provincial, state and local authorities. While management believes that the Company is in substantial compliance with
all material government requirements relating to environmental controls on its operation, changes in such government laws and regulations
are ongoing and may make environmental compliance increasingly expensive. It is not possible to predict future costs, which may be
incurred to meet environment obligations.
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The Company’s remediation of pre-existing contamination at Acton-Vale, Québec was completed at the beginning of 2006. Under the terms
of the 1999 purchase agreement, cleanup costs are to be borne by the vendors. Accordingly, the Company does not anticipate any material
financial impact from remediation efforts.
During 2008, the Company implemented measures to remediate the cause of an odour complaint and monitor levels through a program of
odour sampling. Based upon its efforts to date and investigations conducted by qualified external environmental professionals, the Company
believes that no significant environmental exposure exists and that the costs to remediate the areas of ongoing concern will not significantly
impact the financial resources of the Company. The Company has secured liability insurance coverage for environmental issues which the
Company believes to be appropriate for the nature of its’ operations.
Litigation
The Company may become involved in litigation which could result in substantial expenses, divert the attention of management, cause
significant delays to product development and/or distribution, and materially disrupt the conduct of the Company’s business or adversely
affect its revenues, financial condition and results or operations.
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
As of the end of the fiscal year of AirBoss of America Corp. (the “Issuer”), an evaluation was carried out under the supervision of and with the
participation of the Issuer’s management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2008, the end of the period covered by
management’s discussion and analysis, to ensure that material information relating to the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries would be
made known to them by other within those entities.
The Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and its Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer are responsible for establishing
and maintaining the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. The Disclosure Committee, composed of senior managers of the Company,
assists the CEO and CFO in evaluating the information and appropriateness of material subject to public disclosure.
After evaluating the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as at December 31, 2008, the President and Chief
Executive Officer and the Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are
effective to ensure that material information relating to the Company and its subsidiaries would have been known to them.
INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management has designed internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the
Company’s financial reporting and its compliance with GAAP in its consolidated financial statements. The President and CEO and the VicePresident and CFO have supervised management in the evaluation of the design and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting as at December 31, 2008 and believe the design and effectiveness of the internal controls to be sufficient to provide such
reasonable assurance.
The President and CEO and the Vice-President and CFO have also evaluated whether there were changes in the Company’s ICFR in the
quarter ended December 31, 2008, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect its ICFR. No such changes were
identified through their evaluation.
OUTLOOK
The company anticipates another double digit growth year in our AirBoss-Defense military protective wear business. Orders on hand already
exceed those of the prior year at a similar time and represent a reasonable percentage of anticipated annual sales with further contracts
anticipated in both Europe and North America in the next few months. Gross margins will benefit from the lower dollar and the first 6 months
has been fully hedged.
The Rubber Compounding business will experience a very slow start to the year with volume expected to be at least 35% below prior year’s
levels in the first quarter. Substantial declines will be universal throughout the industry and may be higher for those with a high percentage of
automotive business. Margins will also be compressed due to manufacturing inefficiencies at lower volumes and until higher priced raw
materials are consumed. Improvements in margins are anticipated for the second quarter as inventory costs approach spot prices.
On a more positive note the raw material price decreases will benefit the rubber industry by restoring the margins of customers and substantially
lowering working capital financing requirements.
2008 showed considerable improvement over the previous year in many areas and this momentum will be maintained if not increased at
AirBoss-Defense. In contrast the Rubber Compound group will be operating in an extremely difficult environment for an indeterminate amount
of time and we will be asking them to take advantage and again increase market share. This will require innovation and persistence and the
backing of the strong performance in other areas.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of AirBoss of America Corp. and all the information in the annual report are the
responsibility of management, and have been approved by the Board of Directors. The financial statements have been prepared by
management, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. When alternate accounting methods exist,
management has chosen those it deems most appropriate in the circumstances. Financial statements are not precise since they include
certain amounts based on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure
that the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Management has prepared the financial information presented in this
annual report and has ensured that it is consistent with that presented in the financial statements.
AirBoss of America Corp. maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls consistent with reasonable cost. Such systems
are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and the company’s assets are
appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded.
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for reviewing and approving the financial statements.
The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board and all members are outside directors. The Committee meets periodically with management,
as well as the external auditors, to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues,
to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities, and to review the annual report, the financial statements and the
external auditors’ report. The Committee reports its findings to the Board for consideration when approving the financial statements for
issuance to the shareholders. The Committee also considers the engagement or re-appointment of the external auditors for review by the
Board and approval by the shareholders.
KPMG LLP, the Company’s external auditors, who are appointed by the shareholders, audited the consolidated financial statements as of and
for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards to enable them to
express to the shareholders their opinion on the consolidated financial statements. KPMG LLP has full and free access to the Audit Committee.
March 17, 2009

R.L. Hagerman

S.W. Richards

President and Chief Executive Officer

Vice-President Finance and CFO

Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of AirBoss of America Corp.
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of AirBoss of America Corp. as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the consolidated
statements of income and retained earnings, comprehensive income and accumulated other comprehensive income and cash flows for
each of the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statements presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at
December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years then ended in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants, Licenced Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada
March 17, 2009
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
(thousands $ CDN)
As at December 31

2008

2007

ASSETS
Current assets:
Accounts receivable
Inventories (Note 4)
Prepaid expenses
Income taxes receivable
Current assets of discontinued operations

$

31,864
52,849
637
-

$

28,149
23,196
1,053
2,152
2,968

Total current assets

85,350

57,518

Capital assets (Note 5)
Long-term assets of discontinued operations
Goodwill (Note 6)
Future income tax assets (Note 12)
Other assets (Note 7)

53,885
7,182
6,105
4,570

54,731
3,235
15,126
4,258
4,235

$ 157,092

$ 139,103

$

$

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Demand loan (Note 8)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Dividends payable (Note 10)
Current liabilities of discontinued operations (Note 3)
Current portion of term loan and other debt (Note 9)

17,788
28,301
2,503
596
2,409
1,513

22,211
20,759
595
1,362

Total current liabilities

53,110

44,927

Term loan and other debt (Note 9)
Future income tax liabilities (Note 12)
Accrued post retirement benefit liability (Note 14)

26,547
9,475
2,267

16,083
9,401
1,965

Total liabilities

91,399

72,376

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital (Note 10)
Contributed surplus (Note 10)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings

40,537
1,911
23,245

40,537
1,491
(823)
25,522

Total shareholders’ equity

65,693

66,727

$ 157,092

$ 139,103

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board

Robert L. Hagerman
Director
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Consolidated Statements of Income and Retained Earnings
(thousands $ CDN, except per share amounts)
For the year ended December 31

2008

2007

NET SALES

$ 259,414

$ 209,373

Cost of sales
Gross margin

229,042
30,372

190,750
18,623

OPERATING EXPENSES
General and administrative
Selling, marketing and distribution
Product research
Total operating expenses

8,673
5,074
1,154
14,901

7,905
4,866
822
13,593

Income from continuing operations before undernoted items
Goodwill impairment charge (Note 6)
Other income (expense)

15,471
(7,944)
(3,522)

5,030

Income from continuing operations before interest expense
and income taxes
Interest expense (Note 8 and 9)

4,005
(2,696)

7,189
(3,253)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Provision for income taxes (Note 12)

1,309
(2,795)

3,936
(79)

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations (Note 3)

(1,486)
400

3,857
257

Net income (loss)

(1,086)

4,114

Retained earnings, beginning of year

25,522

22,598

Dividends

(1,191)

(1,190)

Retained earnings, end of year

$

Net income (loss) from continuing operations per share (Note 11)
- Basic
- Diluted

$

Net income (loss) per share (Note 11)
- Basic
- Diluted

$

23,245

-

2,159

$

25,522

(0.06)
(0.06)

$

0.16
0.16

(0.05)
(0.05)

$

0.17
0.17

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Income
(thousands $ CDN)
Year ended December 31

2008

2007

Net Income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss) - net of income tax

$

(1,086)
823

$

4,114
(665)

Comprehensive income

$

(263)

$

3,449

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) - net of income tax (Note 3)

$

(823)
823

$

(158)
(665)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, end of year

$

$

(823)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(thousands $ CDN)
For the year ended December 31

2008

2007

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN):
Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Items not affecting cash:
Amortization
Goodwill impairment charge
Gain on disposal of capital assets
Gain on disposal of discontinued operation assets
Future income taxes
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Stock option expense
Post-retirement benefits expense

$

(1,486)

$

3,857

5,013
7,944
(130)
(2,240)
(1,773)
1,988
420
302
10,038

4,508
(80)
(1,047)
(1,801)
300
313
6,050

Changes in non-cash operating working capital balances (Note 16)

(20,755)

1,053

Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations

(10,717)

7,103

Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations

5,193

(211)

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities

(5,524)

6,892

Investing Activities:
Purchase of capital assets
Increase in other assets
Proceeds of disposal of discontinued operation assets
Proceeds of disposal of capital assets
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities

(4,269)
(602)
6,881
527
2,537

(4,373)
(494)
83
(4,784)

Financing Activities:
Net decrease in demand loan
Increase in term loan
Repayment of term loan
Settlement of other debt
Dividends paid
Issuance of share capital
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities

(4,423)
9,909
(1,309)
(1,190)
2,987

(75)
(1,329)
(201)
(595)
92
(2,108)

Increase (decrease) in cash during the period

-

-

Cash at the beginning of the year

-

-

Cash at the end of the year

$

-

$

-

$

2,965
498

$

3,286
6,034

Supplementary Cash Flow Information:
Cash Interest paid
Cash income taxes remitted
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
including the following:
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company, its wholly owned
subsidiaries, and its joint venture over which the Company has significant control (collectively, the “Company”). Intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current
year’s presentation.
Capital Assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost, net of government assistance, and are depreciated to the estimated salvage values on the following
basis over their expected useful lives:
Buildings – straight-line basis over twenty-five years.
Equipment – straight-line basis over five years to fifteen years or on a unit of production basis.
The Company reviews the carrying value of its capital assets for potential impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset that is
held and used exceeds the projected undiscounted future net cash flows expected from its use and disposal. The loss is measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value, which is measured by discounted cash flows or appraised value,
depending on the nature of the asset. For assets available for sale, an impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount exceeds the
fair value less costs to sell.
Asset retirement obligation
The Company records the fair value of the liability for an asset retirement obligation in the year in which it is incurred and when a reasonable
estimate of fair value can be made.
Inventories
Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis and includes the costs to
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
Other Assets
Patents
The Company has capitalized the costs incurred to acquire patents. Patent costs are amortized over the life of the patent.
Product development
The Company has capitalized the costs incurred in developing the products that it plans to bring into commercial production. Product
development costs are amortized on a unit-of-production basis. All other product development and research costs are expensed as incurred.
Start-up costs
The Company has capitalized certain pre-operating costs related to its rubber compounding facility in North Carolina. Deferred start-up costs
are amortized over 5 years on establishing commercial production levels.
Goodwill
The Company is required to evaluate goodwill annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. Absent any triggering factors during the year, the Company conducts its goodwill assessment in the fourth quarter to correspond
with its measurement planning cycle. Impairment is tested at the reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit’s carrying amount to its fair
value. The fair values of the reporting units are estimated using a combination of an EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) multiple and market
approach. To the extent a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, an impairment of goodwill exists. During the fourth quarters of 2008
and 2007, the Company performed its annual goodwill impairment test. Revenue and expense projections used in determining the fair values of the
reporting units were based on management’s estimates, including estimates of current and future industry conditions. The Company determined
there was no impairment for 2007 as the reporting unit fair values exceeded their carrying values. During 2008, the Company recorded a goodwill
impairment charge of $7.9 million in its Rubber Compounding segment (see Note 6).
Revenue Recognition
Revenue from the sale of manufactured products is recognized when measurable, upon shipment to or receipt by customers (depending on
contractual terms).
Revenue and cost of sales are presented on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of income when the Company is acting as
principal and is subject to the significant risks and rewards of the transaction. Where the Company receives consignment inventory for
processing, the tolling charges are recorded as revenue.
Volume rebates are usually established as a percentage of sales with a commitment to a base amount, accrued on a systematic and rational
basis estimating the level of expected amounts to be paid based on past experience, and are reported as a reduction of gross revenue.
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Notes to CFS (cont’d)
Foreign Currency Translation
The Company’s policy for translation of foreign operations depends on whether the foreign operations are considered integrated or selfsustaining. The accounts of the Company’s Railway Products subsidiary has been classified as self-sustaining and are translated into
Canadian dollars at the period end exchange rate for assets and liabilities, and the average exchange rate in effect for the period for revenue
and expenses. Net unrealized exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of this foreign subsidiary is shown in the accumulated
other comprehensive income, as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. On December 15, 2008, this business was sold. The net
realized exchange loss was removed from other comprehensive income and recorded against the gain on sale of the underlying assets.
The accounts of the Company’s remaining wholly owned subsidiaries are classified as integrated and have been translated using the
temporal method, which translates monetary items at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date and non-monetary items at
historical rates. Revenue and expense items are translated at the rate of exchange in effect on the dates they occur. Exchange gains and
losses arising on translation of foreign currency are included in current operations.
Income Taxes
Future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future income tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is recorded against any future income tax asset if it is more likely than not that the
asset will not be realized. Income tax expense or benefit is the sum of the Company’s provision for current income taxes and the difference
between opening and ending balances of future income tax assets and liabilities.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. Significant areas requiring the use of estimates relate to rates of amortization and valuation of
capital assets and valuation of goodwill. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Post Retirement Benefits
The Company provides designated employees with defined post retirement benefits based upon their years of service. These benefits are
accrued by the Company and remain unfunded unless certain events occur. The current provision for the benefit expense includes amortization
of actuarial losses and transitional obligation over the remaining years of employment until the maximum entitlement is achieved; imputed
interest on the unfunded balance and a provision for current service. The accrued benefit liability at December 31, 2008 and the benefit expense
for the year ended December 31, 2008 were determined based on a December 31, 2008 valuation.
The Company provides certain employees with post retirement life insurance benefits under a plan that is unfunded. The current provision for the
benefit expense reflects actuarially-determined imputed interest on the unfunded balance, net of annual employer contributions, amortization of the
transitional obligation over the remaining years of employment and a provision for current service. The Company uses the “Corridor Approach” to
accrue actuarial gains or losses. The accrued benefit liability at December 31, 2008 and the benefit expense for the year ended December 31, 2008
were determined based on a January 1, 2006 valuation of the plan and an extrapolation to December 31, 2008 for disclosure purposes.
Stock-based Compensation
Employee stock options granted or modified on or after January 1, 2003 are accounted for using the fair-value based method. Under the fairvalue based method, compensation cost of a stock option is measured at fair value at the date of the grant and is expensed over the stock
options’ vesting period, with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. When these stock options are exercised, the proceeds,
together with the amount recorded in contributed surplus, are recorded in capital stock. Stock options granted prior to January 1, 2003 are
accounted for using the settlement method.
Government assistance
Government assistance is recorded as a reduction of the cost of the asset acquired when reasonable assurance exists that the Company
has complied with the terms and conditions of the approved grant.
NOTE 2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Inventories
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the recommendations of CICA Handbook Section 3031, Inventories. Under the new section,
inventories are required to be measured at the “lower of cost and net realizable value”, which is different from the previous guidance of the
“lower of cost and market”. The new section requires the reversal of any write-downs previously recognized, if applicable. Certain minimum
disclosures are also required, including the accounting polices used, carrying amounts, amounts recognized as an expense, write-downs, and
the amount of any reversal of any write-downs recognized as a reduction in expenses.
The new section also clarifies the definition of cost to include all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred to bring
inventories to their present location and condition. Costs of conversion include a systematic allocation of fixed and variable production
overheads that are incurred in converting materials into finished goods. The allocation of fixed production overheads is based on normal
production capacity of the production facilities. There was no material impact on the results of the Company upon adoption.
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Notes to CFS (cont’d)
Capital Disclosures and Financial Instruments - Disclosure and Presentation
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook
Section 1535, Capital Disclosures. This section establishes standards for disclosing information about an entity’s capital and how it is managed.
The entity’s disclosure should include information about its objectives, policies and processes for managing capital requirements to which it is
subject. This new section relates to disclosure and did not have an impact on the Company’s financial results. These disclosures are contained
in Note 17.
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the recommendations of CICA Handbook Sections 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures,
and 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation. Section 3862 modifies the disclosure requirements of Section 3861, Financial InstrumentsDisclosure and Presentation, including required disclosure of the assessment of the significance of financial instruments for an entity’s financial
position and performance and of the extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the Company is exposed and how the Company
manages those risks, whereas Section 3863 carries forward the presentation related requirements of Section 3861. These new sections relate to
disclosure and presentation only and did not have an impact on the Company’s financial results. These disclosures are contained in Note 17.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
In February 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Section 3064 states that upon their initial identification,
intangible assets are to be recognized as assets if they meet the definition of an intangible asset and if they satisfy the recognition criteria contained
in the Handbook section. This section also provides further information on the recognition of internally generated intangible assets (including
research and development costs).
Section 3064 carries forward the requirements of the old Section 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets with regards to the subsequent
measurement of intangible assets, goodwill, and disclosure. The new section will become effective on January 1, 2009 for the Company. The
Company is still in the process of evaluating the effect of the adoption of this new section on the consolidated financial statements; however it does
not expect it to have a material impact.
International Financial Reporting Standards
On February 13, 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed that Canada's current generally accepted accounting principles
for publicly accountable profit-oriented enterprises will converge with International Financial Reporting Standards for interim and annual
financial statements over a transitional period until 2011. The impact of this transition is still being determined. Management continues to
monitor these developments.
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
On January 20, 2009, the CICA published EIC-173, entitled Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which
provides further information on the determination of the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities under Section 3855, entitled Financial
Instruments – Recognition and Measurement. This EIC states that an entity’s own credit and the credit risk of the counter-party should be taken
into account in determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities including derivative instruments. This recommendation should
be applied retrospectively without restatement of prior periods to all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in interim and annual
financial statements for periods ending on or after the date of issuance of the Abstract, that is January 20, 2009. The new section will become
effective on January 1, 2009 for the Company. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of the adoption of this new section on the
consolidated financial statements; however it does not expect it to have a material impact.
NOTE 3 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
A Summary statement of discontinued operations for AirBoss Railway Products Ltd. is as follows:
December 31

Net sales
Income before tax
Net income from discontinued operations
Amortization

2008

$

14,126
1,520
400
341

2007

$

17,718
608
257
345

The disposition of net assets resulted in proceeds of $6.9 million and an accounting gain of $2.2 million, net of $0.8 million of other comprehensive
losses. As at December 31, 2008, the net liabilities of the discontinued operations represented outstanding tax liabilities, and certain accounts
payable settled after year end.
NOTE 4 INVENTORIES
Inventories are comprised of the following:
December 31

2008

2007

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

$

38,560
3,865
10,424

$

15,558
2,243
5,395

Total

$

52,849

$

23,196

An inventory write-down to net realizable value of $4.7 million was included in cost of sales during 2008.

AirBoss of America Corp.

2008

31

Notes to CFS (cont’d)
NOTE 5 CAPITAL ASSETS
December 31, 2008

Land
Buildings
Equipment

Cost

Net

$

2,500
14,002
77,924

$

4,656
35,885

$

2,500
9,346
42,039

$

94,426

$

40,541

$

53,885

December 31, 2007

Land
Buildings
Equipment

Accumulated
amortization

Cost

Accumulated
amortization

Net

$

2,500
12,311
76,556

$

3,996
32,640

$

2,500
8,315
43,916

$

91,367

$

36,636

$

54,731

Amortization expense for continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $4.7 million and $4.1 million respectively.
NOTE 6 GOODWILL
During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company performed their annual goodwill impairment assessment. The goodwill balance prior to the
impairment charge was $15.1 million as a result of the acquisitions of the Rubber Compounding and AirBoss Engineering Products segments.
Management completed a step one analysis using a combination of valuation approaches including an EBIT multiple approach and market
approach. The results of this analysis indicated potential impairment on the Rubber Compounding reporting segment. Management then
performed a second step goodwill impairment analysis, concluded that the entire amount of goodwill in the compounding segment was
impaired and recorded a charge of $7.9 million.
The goodwill impairment is a non-cash charge and does not affect our liquidity, cash flows from operating activities or compliance with debt
covenants. The goodwill impairment is not deductable for tax purposes and as a result, no corresponding tax benefit was recorded.
NOTE 7 OTHER ASSETS
Other assets are comprised of the following:
December 31

Product development
Restricted Funds
Start-up costs - Scotland Neck facility
Patents
Other assets

2008

2007

$

354
3,293
1,453
113
288

$

498
2,842
1,453
113
261

Subtotal
Accumulated amortization

$

5,501
(931)

$

5,167
(932)

Total

$

4,570

$

4,235

$

267

$

339

Amortization expense
Fully amortized product development costs of $268,000 were written off in 2008.

Restricted funds, representing monies held in escrow pursuant to an agreement, were released subsequent to year end on February 20, 2009.
NOTE 8 DEMAND LOAN
On October 1, 2008, the Company renewed its operating line facility concurrently with a new senior secured facility described in Note 9.
The operating facility is $35 million (2007 - $45 million). The term loan increased by $10 million; as a result, the operating line was reduced accordingly.
The demand loan bears interest at a range from the bank’s prime rate plus 0.35% to prime plus 0.85% per annum, with respect to loans
denominated in Canadian currency and from the US prime rate plus 0.55% to the US prime rate plus 1% with respect to loans denominated
in US currency.
The credit/security/letter agreement provides the lenders with a perfected first security interest on all accounts receivable and inventories of
the Company and its subsidiaries, secured guarantees, and an inter-creditor arrangement with the term loan syndicate. Interest expense in
2008 on the demand loan was $1.4 million ($1.9 million in 2007).
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Notes to CFS (cont’d)
NOTE 9 TERM LOAN AND OTHER DEBT
Term Loan
The term loans advanced consist of:
December 31

2008

CDN term debt, bearing interest at 6.18%, five year term, amortized over 15 years,
with principal and interest payable monthly and the balance repayable October 15, 2011

$

US $8.6 million term debt, bearing interest at Libor plus 2.25%, five year term, amortized over 15 years,
with principal and interest payable monthly and the balance repayable October 15, 2011

7,700

$

10,421

CDN term debt, bearing interest at 6.39%, seven year term, amortized over 15 years,
with interest payable monthly and no principal payments required until November 15, 2011
Subtotal
Less principal due within one year

2007

8,300
9,142

10,000

-

$

28,121
1,412

$

17,442
1,261

$

26,709
162

$

16,181
98

$

26,547

$ $16,083

Less deferred financing fees

On October 1, 2008, the Company obtained an additional senior secured loan facility for $10 million Canadian, at a fixed rate of 6.39%,
financed over a 7 year term with a 15 year amortization and interest only (no principal payments required) until November 15, 2011. The
proceeds were used to reduce its US operating line so there was no net increase in its overall borrowing capacity. As well, the Company
renewed its operating facility to provide $35 million of current borrowings at slightly higher rates reflecting current cost of borrowings.
The term loan is secured by a general security agreement entered into by the Company and by its subsidiaries supported by collateral
mortgages. Interest expense in 2008 on the term loan was $1.3 million ($1.4 million in 2007).
Other Debt
December 31

2008

Other debt

$

2007

101

$

101

Other debt reflects the remaining principal and accrued interest relating to one promissory note taken back by the vendors of AirBoss
Engineered Products Inc. (formerly Acton International Inc.). The note bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum, is secured by a collateral
mortgage of $1.8 million (2007 - $1.8 million) on the assets of AirBoss Engineered Products Inc., rank second to the Bank and term lender, and
was repayable on April 20, 2004. The terms of the purchase agreement provided for a recovery of purchase price under certain conditions.
During 2002, the Company exercised its right of offset against the vendors’ note for the recovery of purchase price and environmental costs
and suspended payments of principal and interest pending resolution of its claims. During 2006, the Company had settled $1.5 million of the
purchase price (plus accrued interest) under the terms of the agreement. During 2007, the Company settled one of the promissory notes which
reduced the obligation a further $0.25 million. The Company has recorded the net obligation of $0.1 million after offsetting the recovery of
purchase price and environmental costs pursuant to the agreement.
Principal repayments on term loan and other debt are as follows:
($ thousands)

Term loan and other debt

Total

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Thereafter

28,222

1,513

1,412

15,408

667

667

8,555

Deferred financing fees, less accumulated amortization have been deducted against the term loan for presentation purposes.
NOTE 10 SHARE CAPITAL AND CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS
Share Capital: Authorized - Unlimited number of common shares.
Unlimited number of Class B preference shares without par value and issuable in series subject to the filing of articles of amendment.
The directors may fix, from time to time before such issue, the number of shares that is to comprise each series and the designations, rights,
privileges, restrictions, and conditions attaching to each series.
Issued share capital is as follows:

Common Shares
Number of
Amount
Common Shares

Balance, December 31, 2006
Exercise of stock options, 2007

$

40,395
142

23,755,423
50,000

Balance, December 31, 2007
Exercise of stock options, 2008

$

40,537
-

23,805,423
-

Balance, December 31, 2008

$

40,537

23,805,423
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Contributed Surplus
Contributed surplus is comprised of the difference between the book value per share and the purchase price paid for shares acquired for
cancellation by the Company and stock-based compensation of employees and non-employees.
The contributed surplus is as follows:
Amount

Balance, December 31, 2006
Stock option expense, 2007
Exercise of stock options, 2007

$

1,240
301
(50)

Balance, December 31, 2007
Stock option expense, 2008
Exercise of stock options, 2008

$

1,491
420
-

Balance, December 31, 2008

$

1,911

Stock Options
The Company has reserved 2,380,542 (2007 – 1,820,300) shares for its stock option plan. Options vest when granted or over a period of up
to five years at the discretion of the board of directors. Options granted to directors and officers of the Company, which were outstanding at
December 31, 2008, are as follows:
Options outstanding
Range of
exercise price

$

2.25
4.03 to 4.6
5.00
3.01
2.80 to 2.85

Options exercisable

Options
outstanding

Weighted average
contract life

440,000
206,000
637,000
80,000
570,000

0.88
1.69
2.64
4.11
4.63

Weighted average
exercise price

$

2.25
4.46
5.00
3.01
2.84

1,933,000

Options
exercisable

330,000
103,000
71,100
12,000
-

Weighted average
exercise price

$

2.25
4.46
5.00
3.01
2.84

516,100

Options granted and outstanding:
A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plan as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and changes during the years then
ended, is presented below:
2008
Shares

Outstanding and exercisable, beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Expired

1,763,000
570,000

Outstanding and exercisable, end of year

1,933,000

2007

Weighted average
exercise price

$

3.61
2.84

$

(400,000)

Shares

Weighted average
exercise price

$

2.59

1,733,000
80,000
(50,000)
-

3.59
3.01
1.85
-

3.60

1,763,000

$

3.61

The fair value of options issued has been determined using the following assumptions:
Assumptions

Risk-free rate
Dividend yield
Volatility factor of the expected market price of Company’s shares
Average expected option life (years)
Weighted-average grant date fair value per share
of options granted during the period

3.16%
1.77%
42.71%
5.0
$

1.01

The stock options issued vest as follows:
Currently vested
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013

516,100
246,400
152,250
513,250
62,500
442,500
1,933,000

During the year, the Company recorded stock-based compensation on a graded vesting model basis of $0.4 million ($0.3 million in 2007)
relating to current and prior year option grants in general and administrative expenses of the statement of income.
A semi-annual dividend on common shares for 2008 were paid July 24, 2008 and January 23, 2009 at a rate of $0.025 per share for
shareholders of record at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2008.
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NOTE 11 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
December 31

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Net income (loss)
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding
Effect of stock options
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding

2008

2007

(1,086)

4,114

23,805

23,788
209

23,805

23,997

Net income (loss) from continuing operations per share
- Basic
- Diluted

$

(0.06)
(0.06)

$

0.16
0.16

Net income (loss) per share
- Basic
- Diluted

$

(0.05)
(0.05)

$

0.17
0.17

NOTE 12 INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the Canadian statutory income tax rate to income before
income taxes for the following reasons:
December 31

2008

2007

Combined federal and provincial statutory income tax
Change in the valuation allowance for future income tax assets
Effect of change in substantively enacted rate
Differences arising on filing and assessments
Income tax related to non-deductible expenses
Income tax related to non-deductible goodwill impairment
Foreign tax differential
Other

$

415
(130)
(35)
(234)
260
2,518
(170)
171

$

Total expense

$

2,795

$

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:
Current
Future

$

4,568
(1,773)

$

$

2,795

$

Total

1,287
(856)
(116)
(487)
62
189
79

1,126
(1,047)
79

The income tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of future income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31

Future income tax assets:
Non-capital income tax loss carry-forwards
Future income tax deductions relating to long-term liabilities

2008

$

5,264
882

2007

$

6,146
(41)

Less valuation allowance

3,666
763
4,429
(171)

$

6,105

$

4,258

Future income tax liabilities:
Research and development expenses deducted for accounting in excess of tax purposes
Capital assets

$

(26)
(9,449)

$

(110)
(9,291)

$

(9,475)

$

(9,401)

Net future income tax liability

$

(3,370)

$

(5,143)

In assessing the valuation of future income tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
future income tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of future income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future
taxable income during the period in which the temporary differences are deductible.
Management considers the scheduled reversals of future income tax liabilities, the character of the income tax asset, and the tax planning
strategies in making this assessment. Management would record a valuation allowance against the future income tax assets if the more likely
than not realization criterion is not met.
The Company has losses of $12.6 million available to offset future income taxes in the US and has recognized a future income tax asset of US $4.3
million (CAD $5.3 million). As well, the Company recorded future income tax liabilities of US $1.6 million (CAD $2.0 million) relating to mandatory
depreciation for tax purposes. On filing its tax returns, US $2.9 million of losses (tax effected future tax asset US $1.1 million) will be applied to reduce
income taxes. These net operating losses have a 20 year carry forward.
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NOTE 13 COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Commitments
The Company is committed under non-cancellable operating lease agreements to minimum rentals for equipment and premises as follows:
Equipment

Premises

Total

2009
2010
2011
2012
Thereafter

$

280
116
18
2
-

$

116
90
90
53
-

$

396
206
108
55
-

Total

$

416

$

349

$

765

At December 31, 2008, the Company has contracts to sell US $6 million between January and June, 2009 for CAD $7.3 million.
Between January 9, 2009 and February 12, 2009, the Company entered into forward contracts to sell US $16 million for CAD $19.5 million
between March and September, 2009.
In connection with the sale of the assets of the Railway business, the Company may be subject to product liability claims for a period of 2
years relating to product sold as of December 15th, 2008. The Company does not anticipate that product liability claims will have a material
impact on the financial condition of the Company as it maintains product liability coverage related to such claims.
Related Party Transactions
Included in the operating lease commitments is a rental agreement for corporate office space between the Company and a company
controlled by the Chairman of the Company. The lease provides for monthly payments equivalent to an annual rental of $90,000 and expires
in August 2012. The lease provides for the purchase of the building should certain events occur which are beyond the control of the
Chairman. The annual rental of $90,000 per annum approximated fair market rental value at the inception of the lease in 2002.
During the year, the Company paid annual dues relating to a facility in South Carolina of approximately $19,250 ($21,500 in 2007) to a
company in which the Chairman is an officer.
The Company provided a $0.1 million share purchase loan to an employee due June 15, 2009 bearing interest at 5% annually with full
recourse and is included in the balance sheet under the caption “other assets”.
Government assistance
The Company has entered into an agreement with Investment Quebec to contribute 10% or up to $0.5 million for eligible capital expenditures
over a 2 year period. The agreement lists certain conditions, where if breached, would require the advanced funds to be repaid, with interest
at 7.5%. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company has applied to recover $26,000 ($74,000 in 2007) against capital expenditures in
2008 and the capital assets were adjusted accordingly.
NOTE 14 POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Company maintains an unfunded supplementary employee retirement plan for certain executives “pension plan” and provides post
retirement life insurance benefits to eligible retirees “other benefit plan”.
Pension plan

Other benefit plan

2008

2007

2008

2007

6.00%
N/A

5.50%
N/A

7.25%
-

5.50%
-

6.00%
N/A

5.50%
N/A

7.25%
-

5.50%
-

The significant assumptions used are as follows (weighted-average):
Accrued benefit obligation:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Benefit costs for the years:
Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase
Accrued benefit obligation
Balance, beginning of year
Reduction of accrued benefit obligation
Current service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Actuarial (gains) losses

$

Balance, end of year
Unamortized net actuarial loss
Unamortized transitional obligation
Accrued benefit liability
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$

1,931
107
112
(71)

$

1,868
109
99
(145)

$

448
3
24
(24)
(72)

$

468
3
24
(24)
(23)

2,079

1,931

379

448

31
46

103
101

114

210

2,002

$

1,727

$

265

$

238
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Pension plan
2008

Other benefit plan
2007

2008

2007

The elements of the Company’s defined benefit plan
costs recognized in the year are as follows:
Current service cost, net of employees’ contributions
Interest cost

$

Employee future benefits costs before adjustments
Adjustments to recognize the long-term nature
of employee future benefit costs:
Difference between recognized actuarial (gains) losses
and actual actuarial (gains) losses on the accrued
benefit obligation for the year
Amortization of the transitional obligation
Other
Recognized defined benefit costs

$

107
112

$

109
99

$

3
24

$

3
24

219

208

27

27

1
55
-

38
56
-

8
7
(15)

10
7
(33)

275

$

302

$

27

$

11

NOTE 15 SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company is comprised of two significant business segments, each of which has a separate operational management. The Rubber
Compounding segment produces custom rubber compounds used in various industrial applications. The AirBoss Engineered Products
segment (“AEP”) produces rubber protective products, including footwear and gloves, and further processed rubber compounds.
Inter-company amounts, which represent items purchased from different segments, have been presented within the segment disclosure and
are eliminated to arrive at the consolidated amounts. The Company operates within North America with respect to its rubber compound and
railway products and globally with respect to its rubber protective products, and has production facilities in Canada and the United States.
The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 1. The Company
evaluates performance of its operating segments based on earnings from operations.
Sales excluding inter-company
Canada

US

Other

Total

Inter-Company

74,468
13,235

119,297
47,638

1,805
2,971

195,570
63,844

6,367
9,866

87,703

166,935

4,776

259,414

16,233

75,301
8,735

86,538
34,364

1,695
2,740

163,534
45,839

1,890
6,598

84,036

120,902

4,435

209,373

8,488

Rubber Compounding
Operations

AEP &
Other

Corporate and
Intercompany
Eliminations

Total

201,937
186,210

73,710
59,065

15,727
6,516
2,802
2,124
4,285
(7,944)

2008

Rubber Compounding Operations
AEP and Other
Total
2007

Rubber Compounding Operations
AEP and Other
Total

2008

Sales
Cost of sales
Operating expenses
Other expense (income)
Interest expense (income)
Goodwill impairment charge
Provision for income taxes

(16,233)
(16,233)

259,414
229,042

14,645
5,965
(365)
590

2,420
1,085
(18)

30,372
14,901
3,522
2,696

8,455

(3,487)

9,253
(7,944)
(2,795)

Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Assets employed
Canada
US
Total
Purchase of capital assets
Amortization of capital assets
and other assets
Goodwill

AirBoss of America Corp.

(1,486)

83,878
25,851

45,777
202

1,384
-

131,039
26,053

109,729

45,979

1,384

157,092

2,912

1,354

3

4,269

3,049
-

1,877
7,182

60
-

4,986
7,182
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Corporate and
Intercompany
Eliminations

Rubber Compounding
Operations

AEP &
Other

Discontinued
Operations

165,424
153,664

52,437
45,574

(8,488)
(8,488)

6,863
5,432
435
549

2,232
211
5

18,623
13,593
(2,159)
3,253

(2,448)

3,936
(79)

Total

2007

Sales
Cost of sales
Operating Expenses
Other expenses (income)
Interest expense

11,760
5,929
(2,805)
2,699
5,937

447

209,373
190,750

Provision for income taxes
Net income (loss) from
continuing operations
Assets employed
Canada
US
Total
Purchase of capital assets
Amortization of capital
assets and other assets
Goodwill

3,857

68,249
17,555

44,662
-

2,434
-

400
5,803

115,745
23,358

85,804

44,662

2,434

6,203

139,103

3,176

1,197

-

4,373

2,896
7,944

1,481
7,182

101
-

4,478
15,126

NOTE 16 CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL
December 31

Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Total

2008

$

2007

(3,715)
(29,653)
416
7,542
4,655

$

(3,694)
8,707
(474)
890
(4,376)

$ (20,755)

$

1,053

NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial risk management
The Company's activities result in exposure to a variety of financial risks, including risks related to commodity prices, currency fluctuation, interest
rates, credit, and liquidity.
Market Risk
Commodity prices and supplies
The Company’s financial performance depends on certain outside sources for raw materials including carbon black and synthetic and
natural rubber used in the production of its products, the price and availability of which are subject to fluctuations from such factors as
weather, exchange rates and the price of oil, changes in industry production capacity, changes in world inventory levels and other factors
beyond the Company's control.
The Company manages its commodity price and supply risk by matching purchase commitments to its customers’ requirements during term
of the price quote ranging from 1 to 3 months and maintains supply sources in different areas of the world. The Company does not enter into
commodity contracts other than to meet the Company’s expected usage and sale requirements; such contracts are not settled net.
During the fourth quarter of 2008, there was a significant decrease in raw material prices. Certain customers did not fulfill raw material commitments
at previously negotiated prices resulting in $4.7 million inventory write-down at year end.
The following table approximates the financial impact (assuming changes are not passed along to its customers) on the Company of a 10%
increase in the cost of its most critical raw materials based upon purchases made in 2008:
$ millions
Increase (decrease)

Natural & synthetic rubber
Carbon black
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Earnings before tax

$

(8.8)
(2.7)
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Currency Risk
Most of the Company's products are sold at prices denominated in US dollars or based on prevailing US dollar prices; most of the raw material
purchases are denominated in US dollars, and a significant portion of its operational costs and expenses are incurred in Canadian dollars.
Therefore, an increase in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar reduces the revenue in Canadian dollar terms realized by the
Company from sales made in US dollars, which reduces operating margin and the cash flow available to fund operations. The net US monetary
assets of its Canadian operations represent a currency risk as the balances are re-measured at the month end spot rate creating an unrealized
exchange gain or loss. The Company also has an investment in a US integrated operation, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. The Company’s exposure related to its US self sustaining operation is limited to its net investment.
The Company manages its currency risk relating to monetary assets and liabilities denominated in US dollars by increasing or decreasing the
proportion of operating or term loan denominated in US funds or forward currency contracts. The Company chooses to manage the
exchange exposure relating to raw materials purchased in US dollars in the rubber compounding division by offsetting this inventory with US
denominated 30 day LIBOR debt and a 30 day revolving forward contract which are valued at month end rates. The Rubber Compounding
segment’s profit and loss is somewhat naturally hedged in that sales denominated in US dollars offset US dollar expenses and debt service
costs. AEP’s business has relatively lower US dollar expense content and is not naturally hedged.
The following table approximates the following impact on the Company of a $0.10 decrease in the value of one US dollar in Canadian currency ($ millions):
Increase (decrease)

Earnings before tax

Sales (1)
Purchases (2)

(20.4)
18.1

(1) Based upon US dollar-denominated sales in 2008
(2) Based upon combined 2008 purchases and expenses

Interest Rate Risk
The Company's interest rate risk mainly arises from the interest rate impact on cash, floating rate debt and pension obligation.
When the demand loan and term loan were negotiated, the primary objective was to obtain flexibility to manage its currency exposure.
Currently 41.2% (2007: 21.4%) of borrowings are on a fixed rate basis and the Company has benefited from the reduction in the variable
rates. The Company has no policy to manage the proportion of borrowings on a fixed rate basis but is assessing its ability to increase its
proportion of fixed rate revolving line of credit and term loan. The Company has not entered into interest rate swap derivatives.
At the reporting date, the interest profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:
(thousands $ CDN)

2008

2007

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

157
(17,801)

158
(8,302)

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

3,293
(25,211)

2,842
(30,061)

(39,562)

(35,363)

Total
Fair value sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased or decreased equity by:

Net income
(thousands $ CDN)

100bp increase

100bp decrease

2008
Variable rate instruments

(182)

218

2007
Variable rate instruments

(215)

233

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign exchange rates, remain constant. The analysis was performed on the same basis
for 2007.
Credit Risk
The Company sells its products to a variety of customers under various payment terms in the normal course of its operations and therefore is
exposed to credit risks. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by general economic conditions, the default risk of the industry
and the relative concentration of business. A majority of the Company’s trade receivables are derived from sales to distributors, and
manufacturers who have been transacting with the Company for over five years.
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In monitoring credit risk, the Company considers industry, volume and aging trends, maturity, and other relevant factors. The Company
performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and limits the amount of credit extended when deemed necessary.
Purchase limits established for certain accounts represent the maximum open balance permitted without approval from the CEO. The
Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses relating to specific exposures, and any such losses to date have been within
management’s expectations. One customer represented 26.6% (2007 - 28.7%) of total sales. Five customers represented 58.1% and 53.0%
of sales in 2008 and 2007 respectively. The loss of any such customers or the delay or cancellation of any orders under certain high-volume
contracts could have a significant impact on the Company.
The company believes that its 5 significant customers are credit worthy and has not recorded a provision for credit risk relating to these accounts.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of receivables.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s approach to
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and
stressed conditions.
The Company manages liquidity by maintaining adequate cash balances, having appropriate lines of credit available and monitoring cash
requirements to meet expected operational expenses including debt service and capital requirements. In addition, the Company maintains a
facility permitting the Company to borrow up to $35 million. At year end, the Company had drawn $14.1 million against this facility (2007:
$20.3 million). When negotiating its term facility, the Company obtained a 7 year term.
Fair value of financial instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of accounts receivable, restricted funds, demand loan, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, term loan and other debt. The fair values of accounts receivable, restricted funds, demand loan, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, as recorded in the consolidated balance sheets approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments. The term loan reflects current market interest rates therefore the carrying amount approximate fair value. The fair value of the
other debt is not readily determinable. The fixed rate exchange contracts to sell US $6 million for CAD $7.3 million have been recorded at
their fair market value as a net liability of $7,700.
The Company has designated:
•
•
•

forward contracts as held for trading
accounts receivable, note receivables and restricted funds as
loans and receivables
accounts payable, demand loan and term debt as other liabilities

The carrying value and fair value are as follows:

Held for trading
Loans and receivables
Other liabilities

2008

$

(8)
35,315
(74,148)

2007

$

(34)
31,149
(60,414)

Capital Management
The Company has defined its capital as follows:
2008

Demand loan
Term loan and other debt
Shareholder’s equity

$

17,788
28,060
65,693

$ 111,541

2007

$

22,211
17,445
66,727

$ 106,383

The Company's business is cyclical and it experiences significant changes in cash flow over the business cycle. In addition, the Company's
financial performance can be materially influenced by changes in the relative value of the Canadian and US dollar.
The Company's fundamental objective in managing capital is to ensure adequate liquidity and financial flexibility at all times, but particularly
at the bottom of the business cycle and in a strong Canadian dollar environment. The Company constantly monitors and assesses its
financial performance in order to ensure that its net debt levels are prudent taking into account the anticipated direction of the business
cycle. When reviewing financing decisions, the Company considers the impact of debt and equity financing on its existing and future
shareholders. The Company has established a committed revolving line of credit that provides liquidity and flexibility when capital markets
are restricted.
Directors and Officers currently own 23.4% or 5,565,473 shares of the Company. Each Director is required to hold shares for value equal to 3
years retainer fees in order to align objectives with that of shareholders. There is no plan to extend availability of options beyond key management
and senior employees. The Company implemented a semi-annual dividend policy to provide an additional return.
The Board has no plan to balance the Company’s leverage through a normal course issuer bid or offering unless it will be accretive to shareholders.
The Company’s approach to capital management is expected to remain unchanged in 2009.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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